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l. SUMMARY

Movants are likely to prevail on the merits andleaist, raise a “substantial”
legal challenge to the order on reviéwf the Order takes effect, elimination of
the viewability rule will seriously and irreparabharm must-carry broadcasters
and viewers; whereas, if a stay is granted, coveadde operators will simply be
required to continue complying with the rule (asytihave done for the last several
years). Cable operators can also obviate the m@edompliance entirely by
transitioning to all-digital systems. The balamédarms tips in favor of a stay to
maintain thestatus quowhile this Court conducts its full inquiry on theerits.

1. ASTAY PENDING JUDICIAL REVIEW ISWARRANTED.

A. Movants AreLikely To Prevail On The Merits.

1. Section 614(b)(7) plainly requires that mustgaignals beactually
viewable, not merely available in theory. Mot. Z-1In an about-face from the
position that Section 614(b)(7) imxambiguousthe FCC found that the statute is
now unclear and relies on that hook to justify its “revise[d] . interpretation,”
Opp. 12, of the statute. The FCC now asserts“thatordinary meaning of the
term ‘viewable’ is simply ‘capable of being seenimspected™ and, thus, a must-
carry signal is “viewable” if the cable operatoferé additional equipment that

enables viewability “for sale or lease, either foze or at an affordable cost that

! Carriage of Digital Television Broadcast Signal&mendment to Part 76 of the
Commission’s Rule27 FCC Rcd 6529 (2012)@tder").

1



USCA Case #12-1334  Document #1393510 Filed: 09/10/2012 Page 3 of 14

does not substantially deter use of the equipnierit: at 8 (quotingOrder Y 8).
But Section 614(b)(7) mandates that every cablessiier “shall” receive a
viewable signal, Mot. 7, while th®rder ensures the viewability of must-carry
signals only if analog cable subscribers accepoféer of additional equipment,
take the steps necessary to have it installedpap@ny required fees.

Contrary to the FCC’s argument, Opp. 13, the stinecof Section 614(b)(7)
makes plain that must-carry signals must be viesvalithout added equipment
Mot. 8-9. The second sentence mandates that must-signals “be viewable via
cable on all television receivers of a subscribaictv are connected” by a cable
operator, ensuring that all subscribers can acoess-carry stations in the same
manner as all other channels on at least one s&bewvi-the one the cable operator
“connect[s].” 47 U.S.C. 8 534(b)(7). The thirdntence allows an operator to
meet its viewability obligation with an “offer tel or lease” equipment but only
for “additional” subscriber-installed receiverdd. Thus, the FCC’s conclusion
that an “offer” of equipment satisfies Section @i){{) renders the second
sentence meaningless and conflicts with the statsttheme.See Mot. 8-92

With respect to the evidence that Congress intefmlachust-carry signals to

> The FCC'’s legislative history citation fails topgort its position. Opp. 14 (citing
S. Rep. No. 102-92, at 86 $_1991’\3?. That matergseatially restates Section
614(b%(7)’s language, supporting Movants’ view.telmenors’ emphasis on the
fact that all-digital systems require set-top box€sble Opp. 11-12, is also
unavailing; theOrder violates the statute because it permits cable abpey to
require subs_crlbers to employ equipment to viewtrmasy signalsbeyond that
required to view other broadcast stations and azi@nels.
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be viewable without added equipment, Mot. 7-8, algency alleges that Movants
“‘quote language . . . from questions posed in at®eReport,” Opp. 14. But the
“questions” regarding whether cable operators migigose terms of carriage—
for example, carrying stations on channels thanhotae viewed without added
equipment—were ones with potentially “enormous egp®nces” to viewers and
the “American system of broadcasting.” S. Rep. M@2-92, at 45-46. These
“questions” ultimately compelled Congress to “addfgéboth the primary concern
of carriage and the secondary concerns of ternsamiage,”id., and thus were the
very issues at which the statute was aimed. Th€ &lSo attempts to minimize
Congress’ prior rejection of the A/B switch to eresbroadcast signal availability,
seeOpp. 14-15, but overlooks the reality that consisnage at least as unlikely to
install a Digital Transport Adaptor (“DTA”), Mot.,&s they are to toggle a switch.
Conceding that it previously found Section 614(b)6/be “plain,” the FCC
argues that “an agency may revise or modify iterprietation of an ambiguous
provision of a statute that it administers.” Off. This misses the point. The
FCC reiterated that it isbound by statutéo ensure that must-carry signals are
actually viewable by all subscribers” in tHdPRM® In the Order, the agency
made an about-face on the threshold question whé&egress spoke directly to

the question of viewability in Section 614(b)(7Qrder 1 6, 8, 11, 15. Without

® Carriage of Digital Television Broadcast Signal&mendments to Part 76 of the
Cc?gwrg)lssmn’s ulef27 FCC Rcd 1713, 1715 1 5 (2012NPRM) (emphasis
added).
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reasoned explanation, the FCC concluded that tleigion it once found

“straightforward” is now unclear. Mot. 10-11. Tad it offers the justification

that marketplace and technology changes alteredptbper ‘understanding of the
statutory viewability requirement.” Opp. 5 (QuagiOrder I 6). But such factual
changes cannot convert a “straightforward” provisitto an ambiguous otfe.

The FCC claims that NAB “conceded” that the agesgyvel substantive
reading is reasonabldd. 2, 12. Although NAB suggested that the “provifsiuf]
free equipment that enables access to digital broaduegsals” might satisfy the
viewability requirement, this was “based on theundary commitments [by cable
operators] identified in the record” at that timeAs NAB later explained, it
offered this proposal “in the spirit of compromid&it “never intended to prejudice
[its] legal rights with respect to the proper imtestation of the statut€.”Based on
new information that “even a free equipment offeuld present barriers to access

.. . inconsistent with the statute,” NAB withdréts voluntary offering. The full

* The FCC and Intervenors suggest that the agerenjedeto avoid a constitutional
guestion. Opp. 8-9; Cable Opp. 9. But “[the camd constitutional avoidance
comes into play only when . .. the statute is tbtmbe susceptible of more than
one construction.” Clark v. Martinez 543 U.S. 371, 385 (2005). Further, it is
settled that the must-carry provisions of Sectibd ére constitutionalSee Turner
Broad. Sys., Inc. v. FCG20 U.S. 180 (1997%kee also Cablevision Sys. Corp. v.
FCC, 570 F.3d 83, 97-98 (2d Cir. 2008grt. denied130 S. Ct. 3275 (2010).

> Ex ParteLetter from NAB, CS Docket No. 98-120, at 2-3 (M8, 2012) (“NAB
May 23Ex Parté€).

® Ex ParteLetter from NAB, CS Docket No. 98-120, at 4 (Juihe2012) (“NAB
June 8&Xx Parté).

"Id. at 2.
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record shows that NAB’s position below was that 2007 Ordef correctly held

that the “plain meaning” and “structure” of Secti@il4(b)(7) preclude an
equipment-based solutidnln any case, it is th€ommission’dleparture from its
prior understanding of the statute that mattersi.M6-11, not what NAB may
have written in a letter that it later withdrew.

2. TheOrder also violates Section 614(b)(4)(A)’'s bar on disgnatory
carriage by permitting cable operators to requmal@y subscribers to pay for
added equipment in order to view must-carry statiomhile delivering cable
channels and certain broadcast channels in a foaoeg¢ssible without such
equipment. Id. 11-12 The FCC attempts to distinguish iEchoStar Order
because it “constru[es] different statutory provision, 47 U.S.C. § 338(d), . . .
directed to ‘channel positioning’ rather than ‘safjnquality’ and imposes a
requirement of ‘nondiscriminatory’ access by itsnte.” Opp. 16. But Section
614(b)(4)(A) likewise prescribes non-discriminatargrriage. Mot. 11. Indeed,
the Communications Act expressly recognizes tha fnovisions establish
“comparable” nondiscrimination standards. 47 U.S338()).

3. TheOrder also conflicts with Section 623(b)(7)’s requirernémat cable

operators make must-carry signals available indiest priced basic service tier

® Carriage of Digital Television Broadcast Signal&mendment to Part 76 of the
Commission’s Rule22 FCC Rcd 21064 (200%2(007 Ordef).

® NAB June 8Ex Parte at 3 (collecting citations to NAB submissions).
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and apply the same definition of basic servicedibrclasses of customers. Mot.
12-13. Responding that this “claim ‘conflates @qouent fees with service fees[,]”
Opp. 16, the FCC again misses the point. At tleeadrthe day, it will cost more
for analog subscribers to receive must-carry sgyinalthe basic tier because the
Order requires them to pay for additional equipment.t.M@&.

4. The FCC fails to rebut Movants’ arguments ttnet Order otherwise
violates the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”¥-irst, the agency made no
attempt to refute the argument that it failed teqately explain why facts that it
previously said would support a three-year extenanstead support repeald.
13-14. Secondthe FCC fails to show that record evidence suppts conclusion
that DTAs are readily available in an “affordablelhge of “no more than $2,”
Mot. 14, responding with a conclusory statement thig is so. Opp. 6 (quoting
Order 1 14). The FCC deems its lack of evidence on“tmisical”’ factor, Mot. 14,
“inconsequential”’ because th@rder only permits operators to cease analog
carriage of must-carry signals if they offer “affable set-top equipment,” Opp. 12
n.5. But “[w]ithout this crucial datum, the Commisn has no way of knowing
whether” its new regulatory regime will “be of nenefit.” See Bus. Roundtable
v. SEC 647 F.3d 1144, 1153 (D.C. Cir. 2011).

Third, the FCC’s response to Movants’ argument thaQtaer violates the

APA’s notice requirements, Mot. 14-15, is meritlesBoremost, the viewability
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rule was not set to automatically suns&eeOpp. 4, 13 n.6. Rather, tl2007
Order contemplated “review by the Commission during thst year” it was
effective. 22 FCC Rcd at 21070 § 16. Moreovee, BCC’s assertion that “no
notice was required[,]” Opp. 13 n.6, is flawed. isTlogic would exempany rule
requiring statutory interpretation from APA rulennadk processes.

Fourth, the FCC failed to rebut Movants’ showing that tagency’s
conclusion that a six-month “transition” period Mallow a “smooth transition” is
arbitrary and capriciousSeeMot. 15. Although the FCC contends that this perio
will “give consumers ‘sufficient time to make angaessary arrangements,” Opp.
17 (quotingOrder § 17), the six-month period is illusory. Broadeas will
receive a mere 90-days voluntary notice from calpleratorssee infraat 9, and
viewers will receive only 30 days “mandatory” neti®Opp. 17. The FCC makes
no meaningful effort to explain how even a six-nfopéeriod is rational in light of
past experience with the digital television (“DTMtansition. Mot. 15.

B. Movants And The Viewing Public Will Suffer Irreparable Harm.

The FCC seeks to diminish Movants’ assertions ofmhas mere economic
injuries capable of later redress. Opp. 18. Bowshts stand to suffer grave and
irreparable harm in the form of unquantifiable and unrecovérabconomic,
competitive, and goodwill losses. Mot. 16-19. demonstrated, they will suffer

losses in viewership and audience share ilQhger takes effect.ld. at 16. Such
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losses are irreparable because they are “difficitot impossible, to quantify in
terms of dollars.” Id. (citation omitted). Further, Movants face “tHaeat of a

permanentoss of [viewers]™ once they lose access to viewvdd. at 17 (citation
omitted, emphasis added). Declining viewershid waluse losses in advertising
revenuesid., which are unrecoverable and, thus, the very gfgeconomic loss,”
Opp. 18, that justifies a stay, Mot. 17. These petitive injuries are irreparable
precisely because lost viewers and revenuasnot “be regained through
competition.” Opp. 18 (quotin@ent. & S. Motor Freight Tariff Ass’n v. United
States 757 F.2d 301, 309 (D.C. Cir. 1985)). AbsentaystheOrder will also
irreparably injure the viewing public, as must-gaoroadcasters will be forced to
eliminate or reduce programming, Mot. 18-19, diportionately hurting low-
income viewers, “people of color[,] and non-Englsgieakers.” NHMC Resp. at 3.
Each of the FCC’s attacks on Movants’ showing ofparable harm lacks
merit. First, the FCC emphasizes tld¥ders lack of “impact . . . on most.¢.,
digital cable) subscribers’ access to must-cargtists.” Opp. 18. But this
ignores the fact that Movants’ irreparable harmvBdrom the impact of th®rder
on thetwelve million plusanalog cable households. Mot. 13-1&econd the
FCC'’s attempt to refute Movants’ irreparable hammsdd on th@se dixitthat the

Order “would not ‘threaten the viability of must-carrtaons,” Opp. 18 (quoting

Order  15), should be rejected.
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Third, the FCC contends that Movants improperly “asslimeubstantial
loss of viewership” because “ti@rder ensures that ‘subscribers on hybrid systems
may continue to access [must-carry] signals delr no additional expense.”
Opp. 18 (quotingOrder  15). This ignores the fact that affier of free or low-
cost DTAs does not “ensure” viewability; analog stibers will be unable to
view must-carry signals if they do natceptandimplementthe offer. Mot. 16.
The assumption that consumers will do so disregaags experience, including the
DTV transition, which demonstrates that many corensnwill not understand the
need for added equipment or choose to obtain,linatal incur continuing charges
for it. Id. 15-16;see alsdNHMC Resp. at 7-12.

Fourth, the agency irrationally contends that the six thoftransition
period” allows Movants to avoid any harm, suggegtinat “broadcasters might
prudently be advised to take [steps] to educati thewers.” Opp. 19-20. Yet,
the equipment-based solution is optiondl,at 18, and the FCC relied on cable
operators’ voluntary commitment to notify broadeasta mere 90 days before a
change, Mot. 6. Thus, broadcasters at best wie 88 days—not six months—
notice of the need for viewer education. Noticelldocome at any time after
December 12, and the decision to cease analoggaris left solely to the cable

operators’ discretion. To begin a viewer educapitam before knowing when or if

a must-carry signal would be dropped would harm liheadcaster and confuse
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consumers. Broadcasters would be forced to desiotitme to education instead
of paid advertising, while inviting competitive Inar(by suggesting publicly to

competitors and advertisers that they fear viewss)l® And viewer education

efforts, before or after receipt of the relevanticey will necessarily be over-
inclusive and generate confusion. It is impossiliée stations to target

announcements only to analog subscribers needidiggathl equipment, so such
announcements will reach not just affected cablesstibers but all viewers

including all-digital subscribers, hybrid subscrbevhere analog carriage may
continue, satellite subscribers, and even oveatheiewers:*

C. TheBalance Of Harms and the Public I nterest Favor A Stay.

Maintenance of thetatus quowill not appreciably harm cable operators or
their customers. The FCC claims that cable opeyabould be “relie[ved] from
capacity constraints” and permitted to re-dedicafgacity to high-definition cable
and high-speed broadband Internet carriage. GppB2cause cable operators can
obtain the very same relief by transitioning to ahdigital system, the harm to
cable operators of maintaining tlséatus quoare insubstantial. Moreover, the
public interest favors a staygeeMot. 20.

1. CONCLUSON

The Joint Motion for a stay pending judicial revieskiould be granted.

% Mot., Ex. A, Crosby Decl. § 7; Ex. B, Wilkinson &ef 7.
I Mot., Ex. A, Crosby Decl. § 7; Ex. B, Wilkinson e 7.
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